FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 29 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

By

AILEEN CAROL WOURNOS,

Appellant,

v.

i i

CASE NO. 81,498

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DIXIE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Aileen Wuornos either pled guilty to or was found guilty of murdering six men and sentenced to death. This appeal is her last one, and this court has affirmed four of her convictions and sentences of death. <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S215 (Fla. 1994); <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S503 (Fla. 1994). Besides this case, she has one other appeal pending, which this court has heard oral arguments.

After Wuornos' first trial, Steven Glazer represented Wuornos in the remaining five cases. In each of them, she pled guilty.

Margaret Baldwin, an Associate Professor of Law at the Florida State University College of Law and member of this courts Gender Bias Study Commission, provided assistance in writing Issues IV and VI.

-1-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Dixie County on April 16, 1994 charged the defendant Aileen Wuornos with the first degree murder of Walter Antonio and one count of Robbery with a firearm (R 01-02). She pled not guilty to those offenses (R 4) but later admitted committing them (R 5-6). The court, after conducting a plea hearing, accepted her change of plea (SR 35-36).

She proceeded to the penalty phase portion of the trial before Judge Royce Agner. After hearing evidence in aggravation and mitigation, and the relevant law, the jury returned a death recommendation by a vote of 7-5 (R 32). The court, following that verdict, sentenced Wuornos to death. In aggravation, it found the following:

1. She has nine prior convictions for violent felonies:

a. four convictions of first degree murder.

b. five convictions for robbery with a firearm.

2. The murder was committed during a robbery and for pecuniary gain.

3. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

4. The murder was committed to avoid lawful arrest.

(R 45-50).

The court found that none of the statutory mitigation had been established. It did, however, determine she had proven the following non-statutory mitigation:

1. She had an anti-social and borderline personality disorder.

2. She may have been physically abused as a child.

3. Her natural father and her grandfather had committed suicide.

4. Her grandmother died an alcoholic.

5. Her mother abandoned her as an infant.

(R 50-53).

Regarding the armed robbery conviction, the court sentenced her to serve a consecutive term of prison of 17 years with the provision that she serve a minimum mandatory 3 years for using a firearm. The court also imposed the same mandatory sentence for the murder (R 65-67).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Walter Antonio, a 62 year old security guard, decided to return to his profession of truck driving (T 515). On the morning of November 18, 1990 he left Cocoa for Montgomery, Alabama where he was to get an 18 wheel truck (T 563). Somewhere along I-95 he picked up Aileen Wuornos. The next day his nude body was found in a wooded area on a road about a quarter mile from highway 19 north of Cross City (T 361-62). He had been shot four times in the back with a .22 caliber gun (T 455).

The police eventually arrested Wuornos for his murder, and they also charged her with robbing him (R 1). She confessed to these crimes, and what she told the police succinctly relates the details leading up to Antonio's death.

> Oh.... now I remember. Okay. I remember. Okay. I remember. Alright. Alright, now I remember. Okay. He was an older fella, a little short guy. Alright. Okay That one. . . okay, I was drunk as could be. Ι must had a case of beer on this one. -- I was drunk as could be and again this guy, I'm askin' if I can make some money and he said, Sure, you know, and we get way out in the woods. Now I remember. Okay. We were way out in the woods... some, Oh God. Ι don't know where. Somewhere way, way way out in the woods. And, uh, we stripped on that one and then he got his pants out and was starting to come toward me to do my little deed that I'm supposed to do, hustling and everything. He got out his little... his, uh. He had his wallet out of his back pants pocket and he said he was a cop. Uh huh. Now I remember. Same thing. You know, like, I'm a cop, he said. And he said, If you...I could arrest you and everything like this but if you want to, you can have sex with me for free and I'm gonna let you go and all this other jazz and shit

> > -4-

like this. I said, I am sick and tired of people comin' up to me, and tellin' me they're a cop. I said, No. You can get a badge like that in a detective magazine. So, anyway, I started to get outta the back seat and he got out the back seat and he ran around in front of me and he said, Listen, man, you are going to suck my dick or you're gonna have sex with me. You gonna do something. I said, No, I'm not. And I... and that's when he ... forget the struggle, we didn't even struggle, I whipped out my gun on that one. He said, and then he...he...after I whipped out my gun, then we struggled. And then I shot him.

(SR 57-59).

Wuornos shot him twice. He "just kinda" looked at her then said, "You cunt. . . or something." Angry at that, she shot him again. She turned her head and then shot him a fourth time (SR 60).

Naked herself, Wuornos took a ring from him and got into the car and drove away, eventually returning to a motel room she had rented (SR 62-64). She stripped the car of everything in it and threw the items into the woods (SR 62).

Also during November, Bobby Copas was asked to take Wuornos from a truck stop in Haines City to Orlando, ostensibly because her car had broken down, she had two children, and needed to return to Daytona Beach (T 740). He agreed, but once in the car, the defendant propositioned him (T 742). He demurred, but after a few minutes she asked him again, this time being more graphic (T 743). When he again declined, she "got real upset." Copas decided she was a person one could not say no to, so he agreed to her offer, but told her she needed to call her sister in Daytona Beach (T 744). They pulled into

-5-

a rest stop, and when she left the car, Copas locked the doors and began rolling up the windows (T 745). Stunned, Wuornos asked him what was happening. When he told her he did not want to have sex with her, she became furious (T 745). She swore at him, and told him "I'll kill you like I did all them other mother fuckers." (T 745) After hearing a final threat from her, Copas drove off, badly shaken (T 745).

Aileen Wuornos had been abandoned with her brother as a child (T 621-22) and raised by their grandparents. She often skipped school and ran away from home (T 635-36). As a teenager she developed a violent temper and rebelled against her grandparents who had adopted her (T 628). She was pregnant at 13 (T 637),¹ on her own at 16 (T 639-40), and a prostitute the next 20 years (T 643). Her mother died an alcoholic after she had left home, and her father committed suicide while either in prison or on a psychiatric ward (T 643, 691-90).

Predictably, Wuornos developed mental problems. She suffers from two diagnosed personality disorders: anti-social personality disorder, and borderline personality disorder (T 676, 682). Of the two the latter was the most pronounced, with her demonstrating every one of the eight defining

-6-

¹Apparently her parents learned of her condition only when she could hide it no longer (T 637). They then sent her to a home for unwed mothers and forced her to give the child up for adoption (T 637-38). Although Wuornos denied being abused by her grandfather (who had adopted her), her mother said she (the mother) had been sexually and physically abused by him (T 691).

characteristics (T 682). Of particular significance to this case, she exhibited:

1. A marked emotional instability. As established by the state when it called Bobby Copas, she could be pleasant one moment, and vicious the next (T 743-44).

2. Intense inappropriate anger or an inability to control her anger (T 684).

3. An extreme need for attention, often manifested by hypersexuality (T 685).

4. A very marked impulsiveness. As the expert who examined her said. "Lee is probably one of the most impulsive individuals I have ever seen." (T 695)

In short, she behaved like a three year old (T 696), and suffered so much from her emotional disorders that they played a dominant role in this murder (T 703).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Aileen Wuornos pled guilty to the murder and robbery of Walter Antonio. Three of the eight issues raised in this cases focus on the voluntariness of that plea. The remaining five deal with penalty phase arguments.

The first three are interrelated and deal solely with the voluntariness of Wuornos' plea. At the end of what was an otherwise exemplary plea colloquy, Wuornos told the court, in essence, that if she had another lawyer, she would be able to present the case she wanted. Steven Glazer, her attorney, at that point quickly interjected and said that he had no experience trying a capital case, and that if his client had insisted on going to trial, he would have to withdraw. To these latter admissions, the court said only, "Oh."

It should have said more, because it has the primary responsibility to ensure the defendant intelligently and voluntarily is pleading guilty to the charged crimes. Because of the finality inherent in pleas and the large number of significant rights waived, the court should, but failed in this case to, give the defendant the "utmost solicitude" to insure she understands the full consequences of what a plea means. Here the trial judge failed to do that because it is clear Wuornos had no intelligent understanding that the full hearing on her defense would never be heard if she pled guilty. The trial court should have repeated the plea colloquy if necessary to fully ensure she knew what she was doing by pleading guilty.

-8-

But from her responses, the record clearly demonstrates she never fully comprehended that her guilty plea precluded her from raising the defenses she wanted to argue. That she viewed the plea hearing as nothing more than another court appearance clearly indicates she did not intelligently and voluntarily plead guilty.

That the court erred and that Wuornos failed to understand what was going on can, in large part, be ascribed to her lawyer's incompetence. Not only did he admit his inability to represent her in a capital case, he demonstrated his bumbling incompetence in the plea hearing. For example, he never told her what punishment she could face for the robbery conviction, and when he did, it was wrong. Similarly, when Wuornos talked with him about the finality of the plea colloquy, he apparently gave her wrong advice because she persisted in her claim that she could prove the police lied in her case. Such demonstrated incompetence, apparent from the face of the record, render any plea Wuornos entered invalid.

In sentencing Wuornos to death, the court found she had committed the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The facts the court relied on, however, were common to the situations prostitutes uniformly find themselves in. The typical man who uses a prostitute is a white and middle aged. Likewise, they typically isolate the woman. Finally, given the high level of violence prostitutes faces, that Wuornos carried a gun, like the violence itself, was normal.

-9-

Finally, as to this issue, she had at least a pretense of legal justification for killing Antonio because when Wuornos said she would not have sex with him he virtually demanded that she would. That she then killed him in an "execution style" reflects more her intention to prevent him from further attacking her than a cold blooded determination to kill.

Regarding the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor, the court also instructed the jury using the guidance this court in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S215 (Fla. 1994) declared unconstitutional.

The court failed to recognize some of the valid mitigation Wuornos presented. Specifically, it never mentioned her childhood pregnancy and her life of prostitution since she had been 16. It also never included in its order her admission that she had probably drunk a case of beer the day she killed Antonio, and was "drunk as could be." It also completely ignored Dr. Krop's explanation of Wuornos' mental condition. She had, at times of stress, the maturity of a three year old, she had an extremely unstable personality, and was "one of the most impulsive" persons he had ever seen.

The trial court also never discussed Dr. Delbeato's testimony that he found she qualified for the statutory mitigating circumstance that at the time of the murder, Wuornos "was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance."

Finally, the trial court should have found that Antonio participated in the acts leading to his death, also a statutory

-10-

mitigating factor. Surely a man of his age and experience as a police officer, should have recognized the inherent violence in prostitution. That he tried to get free sex from Wuornos by using the ploy that he was a policeman and could arrest her certainly would aggravate her. Afterall, no one likes to be cheated out of their money, regardless of how it is earned. Antonio participated in his own death when he accepted Wuornos' offer of sex and his demand that she perform for free. This conclusion must follow because during the year from the first murder to the last, Wuornos must have had hundreds of men. Yet she killed only six of them. A reasonable likelihood arises that these few men, of which Antonio was one, provoked her to violence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN FULLY DETERMINING THE VOLUNTARINESS OF WUORNOS' PLEA WHEN HER TRIAL ATTORNEY CONFESSED THAT HE LACKED THE EXPERIENCE TO TRY A CAPITAL CASE, AND THAT IF WUORNOS HAD INSISTED ON GOING TO TRIAL HE WOULD HAVE MOVED TO WITHDRAW AS HER COUNSEL, A VIOLATION OF HER FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

This issue and the following two points focus on a remarkable admission Steven Glazer, Wuornos' attorney, made at the end of the plea colloquy in which Wuornos pled guilty to the first degree murder of Antonio and robbing him with a gun. The court had accepted her plea and had conducted what, to all appearances, appeared to be a thorough inquiry to determine if the defendant intelligently and voluntarily was pleading guilty to the charged crimes. Then, just as he was about to accept her plea, the proceeding unraveled.

> THE COURT: I don't mean to disappoint you, but I'm just trying to bring you to an awareness that this Court would be dedicated to your receiving a fair trial. And your attorney has the right to, if he can show that because of the location you couldn't receive a fair trial here, then he has the right to move for what we term 'a change of venue,' to try it some other place.

DEFENDANT WUORNOS: That's the thing. At the Mallory trial there was a change of venue brought up many, many times. It was denied.

THE COURT: But it's a point on appeal. That may be corrected on appeal. This is why--

DEFENDANT WUORNOS: Well, you people, there's--the public defenders, how am I -- I'm not even ready for trial here. If you were to, quote, here me a public defender, he knows nothing about me. I have not seen him. There is a whole lot of stuff involved that he would never be able to expose in a courtroom unless I have a private attorney -- which I'm working on right now, to get a private attorney -- and --

THE COURT: Let me interject. Didn't you tell me Mr. Glazer is a private attorney?

DEFENDANT WUORNOS: No, he is not the attorney I would look for. I would look for somebody who would take care of the case, such as--

MR. GLAZER: Ms. Wuornos understands that I do not have the capital experience necessary to take her case to trial.

THE COURT: Oh.

MR. GLAZER: And if this case were to go to trial, I would immediately ask to withdraw because I could not possibly defend her in the way she needs to be defended.

THE COURT: Well, all right. I understand.

(SR 33-34).

As argued in this issue and the next two, 1) the court, when it learned of Glazer's inexperience in capital cases should have inquired further about the counsel he provided his client, 2) Wuornos' plea, in light of Glazer's admission, was not knowingly and voluntarily made, and 3) Glazer provided ineffective assistance of counsel.

Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed. 2d 274 (1969) provides the necessary guidance trial courts must follow in accepting a defendant's decision to plead guilty. Because such a plea is "itself a conviction" for which "nothing remains but to give judgment and determine punishment" Id. at

-13-

242, the trial judge must give the defendant "the utmost solicitude" possible to make sure "he has a full understanding of what the plea connotes and of its consequence." <u>Id</u>. at 243-44. <u>Boykin</u> also required the record to affirmatively show that the defendant intelligently and voluntarily pled guilty. Id. 242.

Rule 3.172 Fla. R. Crim. P. provides an implementing procedure for accepting guilty pleas. Significantly for this issue, the burden of determining the legitimacy of the plea rests with the trial court although the prosecutor and defense counsel "shall assist the trial judge in this function."

> 3.172(a) Voluntariness; Factual Basis. Before accepting a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the trial judge shall be satisfied that the pleas is voluntarily entered and that there is is a factual basis for it. Counsel for the prosecution and the defense shall assist the trial judge in this function.

<u>See</u>, <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 373 So. 2d 898, 903 (Fla. 1979). To aid the court determine the voluntariness of the plea, the rule lists eight specific areas of inquiry ranging from the defendant's knowledge of the charges, the mandatory penalties, the rights the defendant is waiving by avoiding a trial, and that no further legal proceeding will occur because of the plea. Significantly, the court has no discretion regarding the scope of the inquiry but "shall address the defendant personally and shall determine [what] he or she understands" regarding the plea. Rule 3.172(c) Fla. R. Crim. P.

-14-

Plea colloquies thus deserve a close scrutiny by appellate courts because of the large number of significant constitutional and procedural rights forfeited, and because <u>Boykin</u> requires the trial court to give the defendant "the utmost solicitude which courts are capable of canvassing." Such careful appellate scrutiny is even more deserved where the defendant's plea of guilty moves the defendant one giant step closer to receiving a death sentence. In this case, that step may have been the final one to the electric chair because Wuornos had four prior convictions for first degree murder and five for robbery with a firearm. Death, while not automatically assured, was a distinct and strong possibility almost regardless of any mitigation she could have presented.

Several cases show how this nitpicking attention to details works.

In <u>Williams v. State</u>, 316 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1975), Justice Overton, speaking for the court, held that when a defendant asserts a defense during the plea colloquy the court must make a detailed inquiry to insure the defendant "specifically and understandingly waives that defense." <u>Id</u>. at 273. <u>Accord</u>., <u>Davis v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 936 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). In fact, if the court makes no inquiry about the factual basis for the plea, the defendant has not intelligently and voluntarily entered her plea. <u>State v. Kendrick</u>, 336 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1976).

If the record shows that the defendant was confused about what he was pleading to, then the court has failed to give him

-15-

the "utmost solicitude," and the resulting plea will be involuntarily given <u>Kiehl v. State</u>, 363 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 365 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). If the defendant pleads guilty relying on bad advice from his lawyer, the plea may, likewise, be involuntary. <u>Young</u> <u>v. State</u>, 604 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

Finally, in <u>Koenig v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1992), the trial court in a capital case accepted the defendant's plea to first degree murder by simply relying on a signed rights waiver form Koenig's attorney had discussed with the defendant. In rejecting the trial court's finding that his plea was voluntarily given, this court recognized the careful inquiry required by <u>Boykin</u> and the need for an affirmative showing on the record that the defendant knowingly and intelligently pled guilty. Simply relying on a form without any direct inquiry about Koenig's level of understanding of what he was forfeiting was inadequate: "there is nothing in the record to demonstrate that he could understand the form he signed or what his attorney told him about it." <u>Koenig</u> at 258.

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