IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 2 19951

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

AILEEN CAROL WUORNOS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,498

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DIXIE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR. #302015
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The state's theory of the case prevailed on the coldness aggravator, is more consistent with the facts of the murders and this court must view the record in the light most favorable to the prevailing theory. <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1019 (Fla. 1994).

Moreover, even if the cold, calculated premeditation were disallowed the remaining case for aggravation, which includes numerous violent felony convictions, could not do anything but outweigh the case for mitigation and any error in finding the coldness factor was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Cf. Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1012 (Fla. 1994) (Kogan, J., specially concurring) (remaining aggravators-only one 1982 robbery conviction; committed during a robbery; committed to avoid arrest; and heinous, atrocious or cruel balanced against the mitigator of a borderline personality disorder).

V. THE CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED AND AVOID LAWFUL ARREST AGGRAVATING FACTORS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

In the penalty phase the jury was instructed without objection that among the aggravating circumstances that they could consider were that the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was "committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest" and was "committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification." (R 848-49). Any claim that these instructions were constitutionally inadequate is procedurally barred because Wuornos failed to object to these instructions and aggravators at trial. See, e.g., Espinosa v. State, 626 So. 2d 163 (Fla. 1993); Steinhorst

v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (except in cases of fundamental error, an appellate court will not consider an issue unless it was presented to the lower court); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1020 (Fla. 1991). Appellant cites no authority for the novel proposition that the enforcement of procedural bars depends upon the jury vote.

Any error in instruction not waived is harmless in any event. As argued elsewhere this crime embodies everything that is cold, calculated and premeditated and could only have been cold, calculated, and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification even if the proper instruction had been given and was committed to avoid a lawful arrest under any definition. See, Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1009 (Fla. 1994); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1019 (Fla. 1994); Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 387 (Fla. 1994; State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Wuornos actually made a statement indicating essentially that all her victims were killed so she could continue her trade of prostitution (R 501).

VI. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT IGNORE EVIDENCE IN MITIGATION BUT MADE A REASONED DETERMINATION THAT THE OFFERED MITIGATION WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE GREATER WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND IF IT WAS THEN THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES OVERWHELMINGLY OUTWEIGHED THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED IN MITIGATION.

As to offered evidence concerning Wuornos' background and mental state the sentencing judge found as follows:

NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES
The Court has considered other evidence with respect to the Defendant and possible mitigating circumstances. Doctor Krop diagnosed the Defendant's mental state as "anti-social and borderline personality disorder." He

listed eight criteria to support such a finding. He testified that five of the eight would be necessary to conclude that a person suffered from anti-social borderline personality disorder. found the Defendant Wuornos to have all eight. These criteria are: (1) unstable and intense interpersonal relationships, (2) impulsiveness, (3) unstable mood swings or shifts, (4) inappropriate intense anger, (5) apparent suicidal threats, persistent identity (6) disturbance manifested by problems with sex orientation, (7) chronic feelings of emptiness and boredom, (8) efforts to avoid the real world. With all these however it is admitted that judgment, assuming she suffered from it, is no reason to kill another person. is admitted that she knows right from There are suggestions in the wrong. evidence that the Defendant physically abused in the homes in which she was raised. Her biological aunt (sister of the Defendant's mother, and adoptive sister) testified at the trial. She negated those claims characterizing the home in which they were reared as strict but fair. The evidence without conflict that both her father and her biological grandfather (adoptive father) took their own lives. biological grandmother (adoptive Her mother) died as an alcoholic; biological mother abandoned her as an infant and left her to be reared by her grandparents who adopted her. The Court simply could not be persuaded that any her childhood background could possibly serve as a mitigating factor for the commission of the cold blooded murder in this case. The testimony of interesting Doctor Krop is insufficient to justify the finding of any mitigating circumstance. possible mitigating factors are not supported by the greater weight of the Even if they were, aggravating circumstances overwhelmingly outweigh the evidence presented in mitigation.

(SR 52-54).

In the present case there was no history of childhood abuse. Many young teenagers go to homes for unwed mothers to await birth in private and avoid the stigma attached to bearing a child out of wedlock in their community. That Wuornos' parents/grandparents loved her is no more obvious than in the fact that they took her back into the home after the birth.

Wuornos simply became rebellious as a teenager (R 624). Her sister testified she simply did not want to follow the rules of the house (R 629). She and her brother caused trouble and ran away many times, to the point where the parents could not take it anymore (R 633; 635-636). It is probably true, as counsel speculates, that "no one cried at her high school graduation" and "no father had his hair turn gray as he taught her to drive." (Brief of Appellant p. 42). The mother who managed to refrain from drinking the entire time her children were growing up just drank herself to death after Wuornos left and the father, shortly after, only followed her to the grave by killing himself (R 643; 648). Wuornos deprived them of further minor agonies.

Counsel's further speculation that "the dollar defined intimacy and trust" is also not well-taken. Wuornos' feelings of love and trust were directed not at her customers but at her lover, Tyria Moore. Moreover the dollar was an easy one, not an 8 to 5 dollar.

There is no reason at all why this court should recognize as mitigating, and it was not so argued below, the fact that after years of prostitution "the resiliency of Wuornos' spirit and reserves of dignity had become depleted." (Brief of Appellant

p. 42-43). That Wuornos chose the world's oldest profession rather than lead a law-abiding life, like her sister, was Wuornos' own decision. Bobby Copas' testimony also reveals that her spirit was hardly depleted, she had simply become a highwaywoman strongly intent on relieving her victims of their money. From her own confession and the vain combing of her hair in Copas' presence her dignity seemed to be well intact, too (R 472). Moreover a dull spirit and lack of dignity are hardly recognized mitigators and would not outweigh the numerous aggravators, including nine prior violent felonies, in any event.

There was no evidence that Wuornos took drugs at all, no less on the day of the murder. Earlier in her life she had smoked marijuana, taken downers and tried L.S.D. once or twice but did not like it (R 645). Cf. Hardwick v. State, 521 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1988), (evidence insufficient to establish beyond mere implication that murder defendant suffered from drug or alcohol dependency, and such factor was properly not considered in mitigation during the sentencing phase where the only evidence remotely touching on the issue was from several lay witnesses, who testified that on certain occasions the defendant used drugs and alcohol and sold drugs to others). In her confession Wuornos recalled only drinking beer (SR 56-66). This statement, absent any other evidence of impairment, is insufficient to establish the existence of intoxication as a mitigating circumstance. Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1991). As the sentencing judge pointed out, "although she testified that she had consumed alcoholic beverages at about the same time of the commission of

the offense she had a recall, after reflection, of the seemingly detail concerning this murder." of Intoxication is simply inconsistent with the cold, calculated and premeditated nature of this murder. It is belied by Wuornos true robbery motive apparent in all the murders. She told Detective Horzepa that she killed the men to silence them because she knew that if she got caught she would be backtracked, they would find out about her, and she would not be able to hustle (R 501). Where there is a lack of any indication that alcohol impaired a defendant's reasoning in constructing a carefully planned confrontation with the victim in order to kill him intoxication may be rejected as mitigation. Koon v. State, 513 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1987). There was too much purposeful conduct on the part of Wuornos in committing this and previous murders for the court have given any significant weight to Wuornos' alleged intoxication, a self-imposed disability. Cf. Johnson v. State, 608 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1992).

Since Wuornos' motive was robbery/witness elimination, she knew the difference between right and wrong, knew the consequences of her behavior and could stop it and admitted to Dr. Delbeato she had killed the men in cold blood, other incidents and affects of a borderline personality disorder would bear no causal relationship to the homicide and are not statutorily or nonstatutorily mitigating (R 581-582). Since Wuornos would not discuss the circumstances of the Antonio homicide with Dr. Krop, he was unable to determine if she acted under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance (R 708). The

known facts demonstrate otherwise. Her behavior with Copas, while certainly revealing an intemperate personality when her robbery plans are thwarted, also demonstrates a modus operandi of targeting older men and luring them to remote areas for the purpose of robbery, which she would have done to Copas anyway if she had been able to immediately retrieve her gun instead of fumbling for it while he managed to drive off. Wuornos had a robbery/murder scheme. That she was less than casual in executing it hardly says anything about her mental state.

The rejection of the offered mitigation should be sustained in the present case as it is supported by competent substantial evidence refuting the existence of the factors. Maxwell v. State, 603 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 1992). Mitigating circumstances against the death penalty must be reasonably established by the greater weight of the evidence. Nibert v. State, 574 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1990). A trial court has broad discretion in determining the applicability of mitigating circumstances. Arbelaez v. State, 626 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1993).

In the event the sentencing judge erred in not finding mitigation, such error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Alcoholism, difficulties in childhood, and some degree of nonstatutory impaired capacity and mental disturbance were found to be of only slight weight in mitigation compared with the case in aggravation in Wuornos' first Volusia County appeal, in which at least seven subsequent violent felony convictions were not even considered. Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1994).

It should also be pointed out that the sentencing judge did alternatively consider the offered mitigation as established and found it was entitled to little weight and was overwhelmingly outweighed by the aggravating circumstances (SR 54; R 874). The weight to be given mitigators is left to the trial judge's discretion. Mann v. State, 603 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 1992).

VII. THE SENTENCING COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT FINDING THE MITIGATING FACTOR OF EXTREME MENTAL OR EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE.

No expert testimony was offered by the defense that Wuornos acted under extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of Walter Antonio's murder. Wuornos would not discuss the circumstances of the Antonio homicide with Dr. Krop. Dr. Krop would opine was that Wuornos was seriously emotionally impaired (R 708). Cf. Muhammed v. State, 494 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1986). Such testimony standing alone, does not require a finding that Wuornos acted under extreme mental or emotional disturbance In Provenzano v. State, 497 So. 2d at the time of the murder. 1177 (Fla. 1986), this court indicated that the testimony of various psychiatrists that the defendant was suffering from some form of emotional disturbance, standing alone, did not require a finding of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. Provenzano v. State, 497 So. 2d 1177 (Fla. 1986). Dr. Delbeato, the state's expert did opine that Wuornos had an extreme emotional but not mental disturbance (R 583). There is no indication, however, that he was actually referring to the legal terms of art embodied in Florida Statutes section 921.141(6)(b) that the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of

extreme mental or emotional disturbance. Wuornos' condition of having a borderline antisocial personality disorder is, in general, perceived as an emotional or personality impairment (R 600). This factor is not properly supported by equivocation and reservation. Sanchez-Velasco v. State, 570 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1990).

as to whether a particular mitigating decision circumstance is established lies with the judge. Reversal is not warranted simply because an appellant draws a conclusion. Sireci v. State, 587 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1991). Where the state's theory of the case prevails this court views the record in the light most favorable to the prevailing theory. Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1019 (Fla. 1994). uncontroverted opinion testimony can be rejected, especially where it is hard to square with the other evidence. Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 390-91 n.8 (Fla. 1994). In Spencer v. State, 645 So. 2d 377 (Fla. 1994), this court indicated that the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor could not be found where there was emotional impairment. Appellee would suggest that the converse of such proposition must also be true. A proper finding upon the facts of a case that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated should preclude finding the statutory mitigator of acting under emotional or disturbance or else there would be a logical inconsistency in the findings in support of a death sentence. Evidence indicating that a killing is calculated rather than the result of an uncontrollable rage reaction justifies not finding the emotional

disturbance mitigator. Cf. Roberts v. Singletary, 794 F. Supp. 1106 (S.D. Fla. 1992). This murder epitomizes all that is cold, calculated and premeditated.

The trial judge, in any event, found the offered mitigation, in general, to deserve only the slightest of weight (R 874). Furthermore, considering the numerous aggravators, which includes nine prior violent felonies, and the weak mitigation, death is the only appropriate sentence, even adding the emotional disturbance mitigator to the matrix and any possible error was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

VIII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO FIND IN MITIGATION THAT THE VICTIM PARTICIPATED IN THE ACTS LEADING TO HIS DEATH.

Although some arachnids may, homo sapien males usually have no concern about forfeiting their lives during the act of creating new life. Death is certainly not a normal consequence of sexual activity regardless of whether money changes hands. Had Walter Antonio actually picked Wuornos up for the purpose of sexual activity that he did not expect death to be a consequence thereof is no better established than by the fact that he was trying to avoid the same while shot in the back. Wuornos' modus operandi was to pose as a damsel in distress in order to gain entry into the car of the chivalrous unsuspecting male not looking for sex with a prostitute as is evidenced by her encounter with Bobby Copas. That Antonio did not fit within this group is hardly evidenced by the fact that his body was found nude. Wuornos indicated in a statement that she had killed

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